THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 02 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 5523 (S.C. Ct. App. filed November 22, 2017)
South Carolina Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2018-000456

Edwin M. Smith, Jr.,Petitioner,

v.

David Fedor,Respondent.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

James R. Gilreath (S.C. Bar No. 02133)
William M. Hogan (S.C. Bar No. 65272)
THE GILREATH LAW FIRM, P.A.
110 Lavinia Avenue (zip 29601)
P.O. Box 2147
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
Telephone: (864) 242-4727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

INTRODUCTION

This case addresses whether a litigant under South Carolina law has a substantive right to dishonestly repudiate an honest settlement agreement. Specifically, this case concerns whether a mediated settlement agreement entered into in September 2002 by the parties and signed by their counsel, but not entered in the court record, which required Respondent to make an initial payment plus ten (10) annual installment payments, is enforceable in 2013 upon default by Respondent on his last installment payment and after the amendment of Rule 43(k), SCRPC in 2009 allowing judicial enforcement of such mediated settlement agreements. This question in turn depends on whether a change in Rule 43(k) pertaining to the enforcement of settlement agreements applies to all cases at the time they are heard regardless of when the suit was originally filed (operates retroactively) or applies only to cases settled after the date of the 2009 change in Rule 43(k) (operates prospectively). Under this Court's precedents, changes in the law that affect only remedies and procedures apply to all cases at the time they are heard in court regardless of whether the changes in the law occurred after the date the cause of action accrued or the case was filed (*i.e.*, operates retroactively). If the change in the law alters a substantive right, the amendment is generally presumed to operate prospectively only. Since this case involves Petitioner's attempted enforcement of his mediated settlement agreement from a legal malpractice action against Respondent, his former attorney, no substantive right in the enforcement of the settlement agreement has been affected, thus requiring the version of Rule

43(k) in effect at the time of the hearing before the trial court to control the settlement enforcement proceedings in this case. Thus, the trial court and the Court of Appeals erred in applying the former version of Rule 43(k) in effect in 2002, when the parties signed their mediated settlement agreement, to void the settlement agreement after Respondent made 10 years of payments instead of applying the current version of Rule 43(k) in effect at the time Respondent repudiated the settlement agreement and Petitioner brought his enforcement action in 2013. This Court should not allow Respondent, a South Carolina licensed and practicing attorney, to damage his former client a second time by repudiating the payment obligation Respondent agreed to and followed for nine years by resorting to a rule of procedure no longer in effect in this State or at the time Respondent breached his settlement agreement.

Also involved in this case is the issue of whether the lower courts should have allowed consideration of Petitioner's motion for reconsideration which addressed the issue of Rule 43(k) as well as Petitioner's earlier arguments that the parties' settlement agreement was admissible pursuant to exceptions under the parol evidence rule. Petitioner timely filed his Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration with the clerk of court and timely served it on Respondent but belatedly provided a copy of the filed motion to the trial judge more than ten days after filing under Rule 59(g); however, no one was prejudiced by the delay. The lower courts erred in refusing to consider the merits of the arguments raised in the motion for reconsideration where no one was prejudiced by the delay in providing a copy to the trial judge.

Because the evidence is clear and explicit, there is only one logical conclusion that can be reached, that being the Respondent has paid Petitioner only \$385,000 out of his \$400,000 settlement obligation and therefore owes Petitioner \$15,000.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals commit reversible error by applying an abrogated version of Rule 43(k), SCRCP, thereby refusing to consider the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement executed by the parties when determining whether Respondent had satisfied his Confession of Judgment arising out of the Confidential Settlement Agreement?
- II. Should the Court of Appeals have considered the merits of Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration which was timely mailed to the Clerk of Court and to Respondent's counsel even though an additional copy was not mailed directly to the presiding judge within ten days of filing?
- III. When considering the parties' Confidential Settlement Agreement in conjunction with the Confession of Judgment, did the Court of Appeals commit reversible error by holding the full record contained evidentiary support for the trial court's finding that Respondent satisfied his \$350,000 Confession of Judgment by payment of \$385,000 to Petitioner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2001 Petitioner filed a lawsuit alleging various legal malpractice-related causes of action against Respondent arising out of the parties' business relationship and Respondent's professional legal services. (R.p. 31, lines 14-17). On September 17, 2002 the parties conducted mediation before former Supreme Court Chief Justice David Harwell. Pursuant to the mediation, the parties entered into a written Confidential Settlement Agreement that date. Both parties and their attorneys signed the Confidential Settlement Agreement written by the mediator. (R.pp. 58-61; R.p. 41, lines 9-21).

Under the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement Respondent agreed in paragraph 1 to pay Petitioner "the total sum of \$400,000.00 in complete settlement of all claims..." (R.pp. 58-59).

Under paragraph *1.a* of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, the \$400,000 settlement was to be paid by an initial \$50,000 payment to be delivered within three (3) days of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (*Id.*)

Under paragraph *1.b* of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, the balance of

\$350,000.00 was to be paid in annual installments of at least \$35,000.00 on September 1 of each year beginning September 1, 2003 until paid in full. (R.pp. 59-60).

Under paragraph 3 of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, Respondent agreed to give Petitioner an executed Confession of Judgment for \$350,000.00 as security for the remaining \$350,000 balance to be paid in installments. (R.p. 60). The Confidential Settlement Agreement also stated in paragraph 3 the amount of the Confession of Judgment “shall be net of all payments made to date.” Paragraph 3 further stated that the Confession of Judgment would be held by Petitioner’s attorney in escrow until Respondent defaulted on any payments. (*Id.*) The Confidential Settlement Agreement in paragraph 5 required Petitioner to write a letter to the South Carolina Bar Grievance Committee providing notice that the parties’ case had been resolved to the mutual satisfaction of all parties. (R.p. 61).

Nine days after the mediation Respondent executed a Confession of Judgment dated September 26, 2002. The Confession of Judgment acknowledged that Respondent was indebted to Petitioner as of September 26, 2002 in the principal sum of \$350,000. The Confession of Judgment further recited that it was executed in consideration for Petitioner’s release of all claims against Respondent and dismissal with prejudice of the subject lawsuit captioned Smith v. Fedor, Dkt. No. 2001-CP-40-4203. (R.p. 19 at ¶¶ 3-4).

The Confession of Judgment stated: “The indebtedness owed by [Respondent] to [Petitioner] arose pursuant to a confidential Settlement Agreement between [Respondent] and [Petitioner] dated September 17, 2002 in which the lawsuit referenced above was settled.” (R.p. 20 at ¶ 5).

The Confession of Judgment authorized entry of a judgment against Respondent “in the principal amount of \$350,000.00, less any payment received by [Petitioner] from [Respondent]

through the date of filing hereof.” (R.p. 20 at ¶ 7). The Confession of Judgment provided that it would not be filed “unless and until there has been a default by [Respondent] on his payment obligations as set forth in the Confidential Settlement Agreement.” (R.p. 20 at ¶ 9).

Respondent made an initial payment of \$50,000 as part of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (R.pp. 65-66 at ¶¶ 3, 12 and 13).

From September 1, 2003 through September 1, 2011 Respondent made nine annual installment payments of \$35,000 each for a total of \$315,000 of installment payments, leaving a balance due of \$35,000. (R.p. 66 at ¶ 4). Shortly after November 20, 2012, Respondent made a partial payment of \$20,000. (R.p. 66 at ¶ 7).

Respondent made total payments to Petitioner or his attorney of \$385,000. (R.p. 70). Because of Respondent’s failure to make the required payments, Petitioner’s 2002 trial attorney James R. Gilreath filed the Confession of Judgment on February 27, 2013, along with a Partial Satisfaction of Judgment, for default in the unpaid balance of \$15,000. (R.p. 66 at ¶10).

On or about March 26, 2013 Respondent filed a motion pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5), SCRCF, for relief from the Confession of Judgment claiming the debt recited in the Confession of Judgment had been satisfied. (R.pp. 23-25).

Prior to the date of the hearing on Respondent’s motion, Petitioner’s counsel submitted to the trial judge (1) a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Vacate Judgment which included as exhibits the Confidential Settlement Agreement and the Confession of Judgment, and (2) an affidavit of James R. Gilreath. (R.pp. 54-67).

The trial court, with the Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin presiding, held a hearing on Respondent’s Rule 60(b)(5) motion on August 26, 2013. Counsel for Respondent objected to any inquiry into the Confidential Settlement Agreement on the basis that it was not in the record, was

full of scratch-overs and strike-throughs and was not clear upon its face. (R.p. 34, lines 20-24).

The trial court reviewed the Confession of Judgment but declined to review the Confidential Settlement Agreement at the hearing. (R.p. 45, lines 3-6). The trial court granted Respondent's Rule 60(b)(5) motion by order filed October 31, 2013 ("Order"). The Order stated: "...As a result, the Court will not consider the terms of the confidential settlement agreement executed by the parties." (R.p. 13, lines 18-19).

On November 8, 2013, Petitioner's attorney timely mailed Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration to the Clerk of Court for filing with a duplicate copy to Respondent's counsel. (R.pp. 82-96 and 104). A separate copy of the Motion for Reconsideration was e-mailed to the trial judge's office on June 4, 2014. (R.p. 104).

By a form 4 Order dated July 22, 2014, the trial court denied Petitioner's first Motion for Reconsideration stating: "Motion for Reconsideration has been denied because the Court did not receive a copy of the motion within ten days of the motion being filed." (R.p. 16).

Petitioner, following receipt on July 28, 2014 of the form 4 Order mailed by the Clerk of Court on July 24, 2014, timely served his Notice of Appeal on August 21, 2014. (See Aug. 21, 2014 Notice of Appeal and Order, July 22, 2014) (R.pp. 106-07 and 115-18). The Court of Appeals heard oral arguments on February 7, 2017, and on November 22, 2017 the Court issued its opinion affirming the circuit court's order. Smith v. Fedor, ___ S.C. ___, 809 S.E.2d 612 (Ct. App. 2017). Petitioner petitioned the Court of Appeals for rehearing *en banc* on December 6, 2017 (R.pp. 211-20), and the Court denied rehearing on February 23, 2018. Petitioner now seeks review of that decision pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

"A party seeking to set aside a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) has the burden of

presenting evidence entitling him to the requested relief.” Perry v. Heirs at Law of Gadsden, 357 S.C. 42, 46, 590 S.E.2d 502, 504 (Ct. App. 2003). “. . .[M]otions for relief under Rule 60(b) are addressed to the discretion of the court and appellate review is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.” Saro Inv. v. Ocean Holiday P’ship, 314 S.C. 116, 124, 441 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 1994). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s decision is based upon an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 555, 658 S.E.2d 80, 85-86 (2008).

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court and absent clear abuse, will not be disturbed on appeal.” Gamble v. Int’l Paper Realty Corp. of S.C., 323 S.C. 367, 373, 474 S.E.2d 438, 441 (1996). “. . .[T]o warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appealing party must show both the error of the ruling and prejudice.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. at 557, 658 S.E.2d at 86. Prejudice is a reasonable probability that the fact-finder's determination was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY APPLYING AN ABROGATED VERSION OF RULE 43(K), SCRPC, THEREBY REFUSING TO CONSIDER THE TERMS OF THE CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT EXECUTED BY THE PARTIES WHEN DETERMINING WHETHER RESPONDENT HAD SATISFIED HIS CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT ARISING OUT OF THE CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

The issues in this matter date back to September 17, 2002 when the parties participated in a mediation conducted by David W. Harwell as mediator. That day the parties entered into a “Confidential Settlement Agreement” personally signed by both parties and their attorneys. (R.p. 61). The Confidential Settlement Agreement was not filed with the Court in 2002. (R.p. 35, lines 10-23). On September 26, 2002 Respondent executed a Confession of Judgment for \$350,000 in

consideration for Petitioner's agreement to release all claims against him and to dismiss the underlying suit with prejudice. (R.p. 19, ¶ 4). According to the Confession of Judgment, the indebtedness it secured "arose pursuant to a confidential Settlement Agreement between [Respondent] and [Petitioner] dated September 17, 2002..." (R.p. 20 at ¶5) (emphasis added). In addition the Confession of Judgment stated Petitioner would not file the confession "until there [was] a default by [Respondent] on his payment obligations as set forth in the Confidential Settlement Agreement." (Id. at ¶¶ 9 and 10) (emphasis added).

Ten years after the dismissal of the case, Petitioner on February 27, 2013 filed the Confession of Judgment and a Partial Satisfaction of Judgment with the Richland County Clerk of Court. The Partial Satisfaction stated that Respondent had paid \$335,000 towards the balance owed under the Confession of Judgment, leaving an unpaid balance of \$15,000. (R.p. 66 at ¶ 10). Thereafter, Respondent filed a motion to be relieved from the judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5), SCRPC. (R.pp. 23-25).

At the August 26, 2013 hearing before the trial court, counsel for Respondent asked the Court to consider only the terms on the face of the Confession of Judgment which provides in part that "[t]he [Respondent] hereby authorizes the entry of an Order and judgment against [Respondent], and in favor of [Petitioner], in the principal amount of \$350,000, less any payments received by [Petitioner] from [Respondent] through the date of filing hereof." (R.p. 20 at ¶ 7). Respondent's counsel asked the trial court to ignore the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement specifically referenced in the Confession of Judgment. (R.p. 34, line 13— p. 35, line 3 and p. 40, lines 7-16).

Both parties agreed during the hearing that Respondent had paid sums to Petitioner *in excess of* the \$350,000 amount set forth in the Confession of Judgment. (e.g. R.p. 29, lines 13-15

and p. 46, lines 6-9). However, Petitioner's counsel pointed out to the Court that Respondent had more than one payment obligation to Petitioner under the Confidential Settlement Agreement and that not all Respondent's payments were towards the obligation secured by the Confession of Judgment. (R.p. 33, lines 6-8 and p. 46, lines 1-9). It was therefore necessary to review the referenced Confidential Settlement Agreement to determine if Respondent had met his payment obligations secured by the Confession of Judgment.

In the appealed Order, the trial court declined to consider the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (R.p. 13, lines 18-19). The Order stated that the 2002 version of Rule 43(k), SCRCPC, pertaining to the enforceability of settlement agreements, applied to this case and that the 2002 rule prohibited enforcement of the Confidential Settlement Agreement since the agreement was not entered in the court record. (R.pp. 12-13). As a result, the trial court held that the payments in excess of \$350,000 satisfied the Confession of Judgment and then granted Respondent's Motion for Relief from the Confession of Judgment. (R.p. 14).

A. The current version of Rule 43(k) is applied retrospectively, making the Confidential Settlement Agreement enforceable.

Rule 43(k), SCRCPC regarding settlement agreements of counsel currently states in part:

No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless ... reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel.

Rule 43(k), SCRCPC (emphasis added).

The Confidential Settlement Agreement was obviously reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. The Confidential Settlement Agreement met all three requirements of the current Rule 43(k) underlined above and is thus enforceable under current Rule 43(k).

The trial court however held that Rule 43(k), SCRCPC as amended in 2009 and currently in effect did not apply to the matter before the trial court on August 26, 2013. The Court applied

the 2002 version of Rule 43(k) as interpreted by this Court in 2006 in Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc., 367 S.C. 623, 627 S.E.2d 724 (2006) and Buckley v. Shealy, 370 S.C. 317, 635 S.E.2d 76, (2006).¹ As a result, the Court declined to consider the parties' Confidential Settlement Agreement. Under our state's appellate case law, the present version of Rule 43(k) is to be applied to cases currently pending before the trial court, including this matter.

As a rule of procedure, the amended Rule 43(k), SCRPC is to be employed in all actions pending before the court at the time of amendment and in all actions heard by the court thereafter. This issue was addressed by the Court of Appeals in Graham v. Dorchester County School District, 339 S.C. 121, 528 S.E.2d 80 (Ct. App. 2000). The Court upheld the trial judge's ruling that an amendment to the Rules of Civil Procedure, such as Rule 40(j) at issue in that case, should be given retroactive application to cases pending at the time of its enactment. The court's ruling was based on this Court's precedents that a new enactment is to be given retroactive effect "...when the enactment is remedial or procedural in nature..." *Id.* at 124, 528 S.E.2d at 82 (quoting Jenkins v. Meares, 302 S.C. 142, 146, 394 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1990)); see also Hercules Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n, 274 S.C. 137, 262 S.E.2d 45 (1980) (holding a statutory change which affects the remedy and not the right is subject to retroactive application).

Therefore under Graham, Rule 43(k) is to be applied retroactively to all cases pending before the court "unless to do so 'would not be feasible or would work injustice.'" Graham v. Dorchester Cnty. Sch. Dist., 339 S.C. at 124, 528 S.E.2d at 82 (quoting Rule 86(a), SCRPC). In

¹ In 1995, this Court stated that, under then-current Rule 43(k), the requirement that settlement agreements be placed on the record "does not apply where the agreement is admitted or has been carried into effect." Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Constr. Group, Inc., 318 S.C. 492, 494, 458 S.E.2d 533, 534 n. 1 (1995). When the parties signed the Confidential Settlement Agreement mediated by former Chief Justice David Harwell, Ashfort was the prevailing case law on the procedure for enforcing settlement agreements. Later in 2006 this Court stated that footnote 1 of Ashfort "was misguided dicta." Buckley v. Shealy, 370 S.C. at 322, 635 S.E.2d at 78 n. 2.

this case, Respondent created his payment obligation by agreeing to long-term payments totaling \$400,000 over ten years in exchange for Petitioner's agreement "to write a letter to the Grievance Committee of the Bar providing notice that this case has been resolved to the mutual satisfaction of all parties." (R.p. 61). Respondent recognized his payment obligation by making payments from 2002 through November 2012. (R.pp. 65-66). On February 4, 2013 Respondent repudiated his payment obligation and failed to complete his final installment payment. (R.p. 66 at ¶ 9). Respondent can make no plausible argument that retroactive application of the 2009 amendment of Rule 43(k) is not feasible or would work an injustice since he repudiated the Confidential Settlement Agreement more than three years after its amendment.

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