THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APR 25 2018

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 5523 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 22, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2018-000456

Edwin M. Smith, Jr.,

Petitioner,

v.

David Fedor,

Respondent

RETURN TO AMENDED
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Katherine Carruth Goode
229 South Congress Street
Post Office Box 1175
Winnsboro, South Carolina 29180
Telephone: 803-799-4440
South Carolina Bar No: 8951

Attorney for Respondent

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

2. Parol Evidence Rule.

Notwithstanding Petitioner’s acknowledgement in his Petition and prior filings that the parol evidence rule *does not apply to the confession of judgment*, discussed *supra* at 11, Petitioner nonetheless puts forth arguments based on the parol evidence rule, arguments raised for the first time in the motion for reconsideration⁶ or on appeal and

⁶ Petitioner’s “Memorandum in Support of Entering Settlement Agreement into Evidence” invoked the exception to the parol evidence rule stated in *Smith v. McCann*, 289 S.C. 452, 457, 346 S.E.2d 720, 724 (1986), quoting a passage from that decision. Thereafter, Petitioner abandoned that argument and authority, instead invoking different aspects of the parol evidence rule under different authorities in his motion for reconsideration and appellate filings. The parol evidence arguments and authorities raised for the first time in his motion for reconsideration are not preserved. Similarly, the additional parol evidence arguments first made in his appellate brief also are not preserved. See *Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 845; *Stevens*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695.

therefore not preserved. *See Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 845; *Stevens*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695. Essentially, Petitioner claims the parol evidence rule makes the purported agreement admissible to vary the terms of the confession of judgment. As noted above, the confession of judgment is not an agreement. It is a *unilateral* document executed by respondent before a notary public. It is the equivalent of a judgment entered by the court. *See Triangle Auto*, 270 S.C. at 389, 242 S.E.2d at 431. The arguments premised on the parol evidence rule and the authorities cited in those arguments are simply inapplicable, as Petitioner concedes elsewhere in his Petition and his brief filed in the Court of Appeals. *See* Petition, pp. 12-13; App. p. 140.

Petitioner asserts that the purported settlement agreement is admissible to explain ambiguities in the confession of judgment. *See* Petition, pp. 15-18. Only the first paragraph of this argument was raised below, and it was raised for the first time in the motion for reconsideration. App. pp. 92-93 (Argument D). The remainder of the argument, from the last line of page 15 through the end of Argument I on page 18 of the Petition, and the authorities cited in support of this argument, were never raised in the court below but were raised for the first time in Petitioner's opening brief in the Court of Appeals. App. pp. 145-149. Accordingly, these arguments are unpreserved. *See Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 845; *Stevens*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695. Moreover, the language of the confession is clear and unambiguous. Petitioner is attempting to have the court consider the purported agreement and the amount actually paid in order to *create an ambiguity where none exists on the face of the document itself*. This is not the purpose of the parol evidence rule, and the lower court correctly refused to consider the extraneous document.

Under recognized rules of construction, an ambiguity in an instrument must be construed against the party who drafted the instrument. See *Duncan v. Little*, 384 S.C. 420, 426, 682 S.E.2d 788, 791 (2009) (ambiguity in contract, if any, construed against drafter); *Southern Atl. Fin. Servs., Inc., v. Middleton*, 356 S.C. 444, 447-49, 590 S.E.2d 27, 29-30 (2003) (ambiguity in promissory note construed against drafter); *Heritage Fed. Savs. & Loan Assoc. v. Eagle Lake & Golf Condominiums*, 318 S.C. 535, 542, 458 S.E.2d 561, 565 (Ct.App. 1995) (ambiguity in amended master deed construed against developer who drafted deed). If an ambiguity exists in the confession of judgment, which Respondent disputes, that ambiguity must be resolved in Respondent's favor, and against Petitioner, whose attorney drafted the confession of judgment. App. 39, lines 1-3; p. 33, lines 15-23.

3. Sufficiency of Confession of Judgment.

In the parol evidence section of his argument, Petitioner challenges the sufficiency of the confession of judgment based on a 1881 decision, a decision which Petitioner cites out of context. See Petition, pp. 13-14; App. pp. 140-41. This argument was made for the first time in the motion for reconsideration and is unpreserved. See *Dixon*, 362 S.C. at 399, 608 S.E.2d at 845. However, it also is unfounded.

The case on which Petitioner relies, *Weinges v. Cash*, 15 S.C. 44 (1881), addressed the sufficiency of a confession of judgment to put a **third party** on notice of the facts from which the confession arose, so that the third-party creditor could investigate and determine if the confession was entered into by fraud and in an effort to place the claim of the person to whom the confessed amount was owed ahead of the claim of the third-party creditor. See *Weinges*, 15 S.C. at 61-66. The *Weinges* decision had nothing to do with whether the confession was enforceable as between the confessor and the person to whom the judgment

amount was owed. Indeed, the Supreme Court noted that the circuit court concluded the judgment in *Weinges* was *good* between the confessor and the person to whom the judgment was owed. *See id.*, 15 S.C. at 57.

Significantly, *Weinges* and another long-standing precedent make clear that the amount confessed does not have to be equal to the amount of the indebtedness or the amount of the consideration for the confession, in order for the confession to be valid. *See Weinges*, 15 S.C. at 47, 65 (confession for an amount less than the amount actually owed was a sufficient statement); *Wise v. Hardin*, 5 S.C. 325, 330-31 (1874) (confession was not void merely because the value of the consideration was not equal to the confession amount).

Contrary to Petitioner's claim, the confession of judgment was sufficient under the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-360. It precisely stated the amount of the judgment and authorized entry of judgment therefor, and it stated the facts out of which it arose and that the sum confessed for was justly due. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-360(1), (2).⁷

4. Evidentiary Foundation.

As noted in this Return's counter-statement of the case, the authenticity of and foundation for admission of the purported settlement agreement were not established. No testimony was taken at the hearing of August 26, 2013. The Gilreath affidavit was not offered or admitted into evidence. The purported confidential settlement agreement was not admitted into evidence. Petitioner did not call any witness to lay a foundation for the admission of the purported agreement.

⁷ A third requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-360, addressing contingent liabilities, is inapplicable here.

Respondent's trial counsel made numerous specific objections to the factual assertions made by opposing counsel and to any consideration of the agreement. App. p. 34, lines 4-6, 20-24; p. 35, lines 19-22; p. 40, lines 13-17; p. 43, lines 8-13. Had *any* evidentiary support been introduced by counsel for Petitioner, Respondent's trial counsel would have had an opportunity to cross-examine Petitioner's witnesses concerning the making of the alleged agreement, the identity of its drafter,⁸ the irregularities contained in the document itself, and the events that may have transpired between the making of the alleged agreement on September 17, 2002, and the execution of the confession of judgment by respondent on September 26, 2002. No evidentiary foundation was laid for admission of the document. It was not authenticated in any way, as required by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and case law. *See* Rule 901(a), SCRE (authentication requirement); *see also Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 386, 529 S.E.2d 528, 536 (2000); *State v. Rich*, 293 S.C. 172, 173-74, 359 S.E.2d 281, 281-82 (1987); *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct.App. 2015). To the extent the Gilreath affidavit might be argued to authenticate the document, that affidavit also was not offered into evidence, and Respondent's trial counsel therefore had no opportunity to object to its admission. Under these circumstances, this Court should not consider either the purported agreement or the affidavit, and it should not consider Petitioner's factual recitals based on those documents throughout his Petition and his prior briefs in the Court of Appeals.

⁸ Petitioner's own attorneys made conflicting representations as to who drafted the purported agreement, attorney Ruschky claiming the drafter was retired Chief Justice David Harwell, App. p. 41, lines 11-12, and attorney Gilreath claiming the drafter was an attorney by the name of Swagart, App. p. 65, ¶ 3.

III. SHOULD CERTIORARI BE DENIED WITH RESPECT TO THE COURT OF APPEALS' AFFIRMANCE OF THE LOWER COURT'S DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND THE COURT OF APPEALS' CONCLUSION THAT THE PAROL EVIDENCE ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PRESERVED.

Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration following the issuance of the court's order, but he did not comply with Rule 59(g) of the civil procedure rules, which provides:

A party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion.

See Rule 59(g), SCRCF. By order dated July 22, 2014, the court denied the motion for reconsideration because of Petitioner's non-compliance with this rule. App. p. 16. The Court of Appeals affirmed the court's denial on this basis. App. p. 209.

Under his second question presented, Petitioner claims the lower court erred in failing to consider his motion for reconsideration and the Court of Appeals erred in finding the issues raised in his motion for reconsideration were not preserved. These claims are unfounded, for multiple reasons.

First, the determination by the Court of Appeals that certain issues were not preserved due to the lower court's denial of the motion for reconsideration applied solely to Petitioner's parol evidence rule arguments. The Court of Appeals did not find the Rule 43(k) arguments were not preserved, and it squarely addressed the merits of those arguments under heading I of its opinion, "Confidential Settlement Agreement." App. pp. 208-09.

Second, the Court of Appeals held Petitioner's parol evidence arguments were not preserved on a second, separate basis – that they were raised for the first time in his motion for reconsideration. App. p. 209. Petitioner did not challenge this ruling in his petition for rehearing, and it is the law of the case. Where a decision is based on more than one

ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds, because the unappealed ground becomes the law of the case. *Atlantic Coast Builders*, 398 S.C. at 328, 730 S.E.2d at 284; *Robinson*, 388 S.C. at 641 n.8; 698 S.E.2d at 228 n.8. As pointed out in detail in the Final Brief of Respondent filed in the Court of Appeals, App. pp. 170-72, incorporated herein by reference, the arguments made on appeal with respect to the parol evidence rule were first made in the motion for reconsideration or on appeal. The Court of Appeals correctly found the parol evidence rule arguments to be unpreserved on this basis, independently of its ruling based on failure to timely submit a copy of the motion for reconsideration to the judge as required by Rule 59(g). Under the circumstances, there is no reason to grant a writ of certiorari as to the Rule 59(g) ruling.

However, on the merits, the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the lower court's denial of reconsideration on the basis of Rule 59(g) is sound, and the authorities invoked by Petitioner in his argument are not germane to the issue he raises. Three of those decisions address whether appeals were untimely because of an allegedly deficient Rule 59(e) motion or because of failure to comply with the requirement of Rule 59(g). *See Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 574-76, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636-37 (2010) (appeal not untimely where Rule 59(e) motion was sufficient under Rule 7(b)(6), SCRCPP); *Coon v. Coon*, 356 S.C. 342, 346, 588 S.E.2d 624, 626 (Ct. App. 2003) (appeal not untimely where party failed to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRCPP); *Gallagher v. Evert*, 353 S.C. 59, 63-64, 577 S.E.2d 217, 219 (Ct.App. 2002) (same). None of those decisions addressed a claim of error in the court's denial of the post-trial motion because of non-compliance with Rule 59(g). In *Gallagher*, the Court of Appeals expressly noted that the lower court stated it could have denied the motion "on this ground alone," and the Court of Appeals did not

address or correct this assertion. *See Gallagher*, 353 S.C. at 63, 577 S.E.2d at 219. In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded *Gallagher* implies a trial court may deny the motion solely on the basis of non-compliance with Rule 59(g). App. p. 209.

Petitioner's characterization of the holding of *Jones v. State*, 382 S.C. 589, 677 S.E.2d 20 (2009), as "reversing judgment of trial court where court denied petitioner's motion for reconsideration for failure to comply with service requirement of Rule 59(g)" is misleading. *See* Petition, p. 21; App. p. 152. In *Jones*, the Supreme Court noted that the trial court "dismissed the State's motion for reconsideration on the ground the State failed to comply with the ten-day service requirement of Rule 59(g)." *See Jones*, 382 S.C. at 594, 677 S.E.2d at 22. However, the Supreme Court did *not* address whether this ruling was within the court's discretion or was erroneous. Rather, the majority and concurring opinions both addressed the merits of issues raised on appeal, without addressing the procedural basis for the court's denial of the post-trial motion. *See id.*, 382 S.C. at 595-97, 677 S.E.2d at 23-24 (majority opinion); 382 S.C. at 598; 677 S.E.2d at 24 (concurring opinion). Counsel is unaware of any appellate decision of this state that has addressed the precise issue presented here, prior to the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

The language of the rule is mandatory, using the word "shall." *See* Rule 59(g), SCRPC. The conduct of proceedings in the lower court rests in the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the court's ruling should not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion, error of law, and resulting prejudice. *See American Fed. Bank, FSB, v. Number One Main Joint Venture*, 321 S.C. 169, 174, 467 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1996); *Manios v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP*, 389 S.C. 126, 147, 697 S.E.2d 644, 655

(Ct.App. 2010). Here, the court acted within its discretion and did not commit any error of law in denying the motion based on non-compliance with a mandatory rule of procedure.

Nor is there any resulting prejudice. Petitioner filed a second motion for reconsideration, refiled the original motion for reconsideration, and asked the court to review the original motion on the merits. App. pp. 99-105. The court then issued an order denying the motion for reconsideration. App. p. 17. Petitioner has not been denied appellate review as the result of the first order that denied his motion, and his Rule 43(k) arguments made in the first motion were given full consideration by the Court of Appeals. The only arguments not considered by the Court of Appeals were those pertaining to the parol evidence rule, arguments the Court deemed unpreserved on a separate and independent basis. App. p. 209. Because Petitioner failed to challenge the Court's ruling that those arguments were unpreserved on other grounds, that ruling is the law of the case, and there is no appropriate basis for a grant of certiorari to review this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above and the additional reasons stated in Respondent's filings in the Court of Appeals, App. pp. 158-85, 221-34, incorporated herein by reference, this Court should deny the Amended Petition for Writ of Certiorari.